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Epigraph

“They are tearing down the sun; they are even ripping the rainbow to pieces 
into a storm of souls. They are demanding respect, tolerance and justice 
from the former colonial oppressors, from their government and from the 
establishment, while at the same time they themselves are not willing or 
capable of showing the same mercy and decency. Anyone who wants to 
hate me, hate me, but I will not be silenced over this injustice. Who dares to 
disagree, can kiss my ass.” 

Edgar Cairo - 19791 quoted on the hypocrisy shown by everyday people and 
their discrimination in general of minorities but in particular of homosexuals. 
Cairo, in his column, addressing the forbidden subject of homosexuality, 
pinpointing the injustice and intolerance and how common gay bashing was 
in the streets of Paramaribo in the late ’70s. 

Me, I don’t dare to disagree with him, at the same time being well aware that 
others will surely disagree with me. Shall I remain silent? I think not.

Ivan Patrick Liesdek
Paramaribo, 26 December 2022

1 Cairo, Edgar: De Volkskrant,15 September 1979; ‘Die zon achter de zon’.
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The Journey

Same-sex attraction in antiquity was mostly seen as enlightened and ‘LGBT’ 
people as gifted or spiritual. That is, until several thousand years ago, when 
new trials appeared and continued.

Deceived, betrayed, denounced and accused
over misconceived perceptions.
Tried not by justice, not by peers, but by a tribunal
of self-proclaimed righteousness.
Mocked, tortured, coerced into confessions and crucified.
Slaughtered, executed and denied all rites.
Sacrificed to please the gods, to obtain favour, riches and power.
Accepting one’s faith and oneself after paying the toll for it. 
Euphoric enlightenment and its hopeful freedoms.
Absolving the executioners and humanity itself for not knowing the facts.
Redefining kindness and expecting love in return, alas.
The soul, body and spirit of a son or daughter,
a father or mother eradicated.

The same trials and tribulations have been a constant feature of our Suriname 
LGBT history from the 17th century right through to the present day. Trials in 
which the judge, the jury and the executioner are all rolled into one, taking 
place in court, at home, in school, by governments or in the church, still 
seen anywhere and everywhere around the globe.

LGBT persons as a minority, no matter where geographically located, 
irrespective of their cultural, ethnic or any other background, are for the 
present and for the future bound together by a unique shared personal 
experience and an especially unique history.
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Introduction

In 2016, the exhibition ‘Faces’ on USA Black Gay History and Suriname Gay 
History was organized and hosted by Parea Suriname, with the support of 
the American Embassy in Suriname. On this occasion, researchers made 
a first attempt to write down an initial version of this document, ‘A history 
of LGBTs in Suriname’, that was to serve as the outline for the exhibit. This 
document was not only the starting point for the exhibition, but also for 
further research. After six years of digging, this research has resulted in 
the current version, which has the same structure of four themes as the 
initial one. All four themes have been extended and updated in depth to 
make the information more comprehensible. Many facts have been brought 
to the surface; many dots have been connected, whilst several subjects 
remain unknown for now. This history consists mainly of events and actions 
that occurred in Suriname. Events that have unfolded outside Suriname 
are mentioned only if and when there is a direct connection with the gay 
history of Suriname itself. The gay history of Surinamese people in diaspora 
(particularly in the Netherlands) is a completely different story with its own 
characteristics, which someday must also be written down. 

Fig. 1. LGBT Exhibition ‘Faces’, 2016; headline of the newspaper article from June 2016; "LGBT 
exhibition Faces is holding up a mirror to society." Faces was the first LGBT history exhibition in 
Suriname, showcasing the preliminary research results, 2015–2016. The exhibition was mounted in 
collaboration with the US Embassy in Paramaribo and included a section on Black Gay History in the 
USA.
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The attempt to comprehensively write down the complete LGBT History 
of Suriname is not only based on newly conducted research into literature 
and oral history, but we have also tapped into research already carried 
out. We must state that in most of the earlier research and reports, many 
of the conclusions, explanations and perceptions regarding sodomy 
(homosexuality/LGBT), although technically and historically correct, are 
based on intuition and reconstruction of historical facts seen mainly from 
the heteronormative perspective. Intimate, internal nuances and subtleties 
regarding the LGBT phenomenon and same-sex relationships are left out of 
the equation and are therefore not part of the discussion. Throughout this 
work, this aspect is, however, a useful tool for gaining insights, explaining 
and understanding a whole lot more about this part of history. All of a 
sudden, many stories and facts seem to be making much more sense, while 
others take a more drastic turn in conclusive understandings.
 
Doing research on a topic that has been taboo for centuries makes it 
extremely difficult to find reliable information. Most recorded information 
available is and remains written down by the victor, the oppressor. This 
fact and the era in which the information was recorded did not favour 
homosexuality. Even worse: the decision was often made to use an 
approach of declaring homosexuality the enemy and a threat. Many 
theories to justify this persecution were used, but religion always stuck out 
head and shoulders. What better way to use scriptures, that no one out of 
fear of heresy and blasphemy dares to dispute, even when this theory is 
based on a nonsensical, non-humanistic and biased approach. Ultimately, 
at some point through history, everything deviating from the biblical norm 
was considered blasphemy, even science and medicine for that matter. This 
hostile and devious pogrom of hate against love, classified as disgusting 
physical lust of the flesh, labelled homosexuality as the root of all evil. This 
Eurocentric Christian doctrine found its roots around the 3rd century and 
continued on through the Dark Ages and Medieval times, when state and 
church were still closely intertwined. This evil message was repeated over 
and over again for centuries and resulted in calculated and institutionalized 
hate and intolerance against targeted minorities. This cultivated hate against 
these minorities, or any so-called degenerates, was used as a powerful 
weapon and continued in ‘divide and conquer’ tactics during colonialism, 
neocolonialism, imperialism, slavery and most certainly Nazism. Only in the 
past century have things slowly started to turn around: overcoming and 
overturning centuries of lies and deception, used to brainwash mankind, 
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that still go on today and the logic of which isn’t always easy to comprehend. 
Nevertheless, followers choose just to accept and swallow the doctrinal 
theory of their leaders: leaders who often claim to have God exclusively 
on their side. Reliable and relevant information on LGBT people is either 
erased or not recorded as such, moreover, tucked away in documents of 
perhaps a totally different nature. Despite the time lapses and gaps clearly 
present in this history as a result of missing information, a clear storyline has 
developed. Like any other story in history, whenever there was oppression, 
an emancipation movement always followed. The battles fought but also the 
ones that that lay ahead, in being able to perhaps go back to a more universal 
and humanistic approach on homosexuality as it supposedly was prior to 
current civilization, need to be addressed accordingly. Therefore, our history 
is defined and written based on a Western approach that is structured along 
the guidelines of religious influences, political power, greed and wealth. Greed 
for wealth to be obtained by any means necessary, including oppression of 
minorities. Without any doubt in my mind and clearly evident in this history 
is that the non-Western approach to homosexuality is inevitably intertwined 
with many overlaps, which should also serve as an instrument or argument 
in the struggle for liberation. Actions and occurrences throughout history all 
scream injustice. This injustice and the hunger for freedom are therefore the 
focal point. Like many others, this gay history of Suriname involves battles 
won and lost, seemingly moving around in vicious circles of persecution to 
rising up for civil liberties and freedom, everything else in between and then 
seemingly back again to the starting point. 

This ‘going around in circles’ also finds its way back in the way this history 
is written. The four main themes (Early attitudes, Social life, Awareness and 
activism, Recent challenges), much like their chapters and subsections, 
indeed all seem like circles within a bigger circle, yet are still always part of a 
bigger picture. The story always goes back to a starting point before closing 
and completing the loop. Within all these individual chronicles, each based 
on a specific subject or a matter discussed, the reader will consistently 
find several cases of hiatus, literally representing time lapses during which 
historical information on Suriname is lacking. In these instances, international 
events sometimes offer answers as to why. All these stories seem to be 
separate subjects that indeed all warrant their own ‘circle’ and yet are part 
of our Suriname LGBT history, the bigger picture. Hence, this explains our 
approach, the circles within the circles. Nevertheless, at the core of all these 
you will always find injustice, while in most cases an attempt is made to 
place this history of persecution in the light of present-day events.
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Chapter 1
 Early Attitudes: 1692–1980s
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1�1 Homosexuality is a crime

Prior to the persecution of homosexuals based on Eurocentric religious 
doctrine, and even centuries if not millennia before our continent was 
annexed and colonized subsequently by the Spanish, Portuguese, English, 
Dutch and French (not particularly in this order), old civilizations not only 
permitted homosexuality, but also saw homosexuals as sacred and holy, 
calling them amongst other things two-spirited people. This part of oral 
history, even though it has only been documented in the recent past, still 
remains somewhat unknown to many. The oppressors’ successful strategy of 
thoroughly wiping out civilizations and cultures together with their traditions 
and beliefs, including the stance on homosexuality, is finally crumbling, 
and the unravelling of this information and what it entails concurs with the 
prevailing urge of mankind, in particular homosexuals and their need to be 
free in sprit and mind but also in their sexuality and identity. This oppression 
of these old civilizations, the same oppression seen in post-colonial times, 
is identical to the oppression of any other minority, including that of LGBT 
persons. The oppression and executions peaked in the late 17th early 18th 
centuries, only to be gradually halted a century later, after WWII. Let us take 
a look starting from this point, the turn of the 17th century. This manifested 
itself also in the case of Suriname, where we see the same things happening. 
We mainly find that the documented part of history predominantly involves 
the white part of society, the colonial masters. Even though documented 
information on the enslaved is lacking, this does remain Surinamese (LGBT) 
history, too. Before we go into the LGBT part of the history of Suriname, let 
us find out what in general lay at its core and why the written part starts 
somewhere around 1730.

Centuries of LGBT history are written and determined by the victors. Proof of 
the existence of love between people of the same sex was either tenaciously 
concealed, except perhaps by the Amerindians, Greeks and Romans, or 
it was quickly destroyed. Love between humans of the same sex seems 
never to have existed in society. However, ancient Asian, Eurasian and 
African documentation on homosexuality has revealed it to be an integral 
part of civilization. Sadly enough, concealment during past centuries and 
the ongoing deception cause, quite unnecessarily, polarization of society 
and unspeakable suffering for people who belong to the LGBT community. 
Records on homosexuality exist mainly in the ledgers and journals of the 
criminal courts of justice. Centuries of demonizing and criminalization, 
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centuries of persecution and execution by rule of law, continuing to the late 
1950s and 1960s. This dehumanizing injustice is still continuing in various 
parts of the world. Suriname’s case is not that much different. Times have 
changed, though, so the correct version of history needs to be dug up and 
written down.

Between 1730 and 1733 stretching to 1737, in the Dutch Republic (precursor 
of the Netherlands) approximately three hundred men were indicted for 
sodomy, of whom 75 were sentenced to death, while most others were 
sentenced to imprisonment. Many homosexuals fled and sought a safe 
haven in England and Germany. These persecutions in the Netherlands are 
relevant to the history of LGBT in Suriname, because the same methods2 
were adopted by authorities in other Dutch territories, Kaap de Goede Hoop 
[the Cape of Good Hope], under the rule of the Dutch East Indian Company, 
and Suriname, ruled by the ‘Geoctroyeerde Sociëteit van Suriname’ (SvS), 
a company [Exclusive {lit. Patented} Society of Suriname] that had the 
city of Amsterdam, the Dutch West India Company and a noble family as 
stakeholders. Everything in the colony of Suriname was dictated by the 
owners in Amsterdam, and accordingly the witch hunt on homosexuals, too. 
Similar processes occurred in France and Italy. In the Dutch Republic, three 
more waves of intense persecutions happened: in 1764, 1776 and 1795. It 
started in Utrecht, in 1730, when a sexton was imprisoned and questioned 
by the police on a totally different matter. During the interrogation he 
had subconsciously mentioned that men would cruise around Utrecht’s 
cathedral tower and have sexual relations with each other. Two days later 
the first arrests were made. One by one, the suspects all confessed, naming 
new culprits. A whole subculture of homosexuality came crumbling down. 
All over the Republic, 144 men were arrested. Amongst them were men 
of all ages and social backgrounds: soldiers, porters, servants, but also 
high-ranking military officers, notaries and merchants.3 The interrogations 
revealed a homosexual underground with permanent public meeting 
places, private houses and brothels with male prostitutes. Remarkably, this 
subculture in the Netherlands was mentioned during a sodomy trial taking 
place in Suriname. Suspect Matthijs de Goijer (sometimes spelled de Goyer), 
when interrogated during the sodomy case against him in Paramaribo (1731), 
mentioned going to these ’safe places’ in 1722 while visiting Amsterdam, 
accompanying the brother of fellow suspect Matthijs Balkman. Suriname’s 

2 Boon (1997): please see the Bibliography for all such book references.
3 Meer, van der (1995); see Bibliography, pp. 14–45. .
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Governor Carel de Cheusses, presiding over this case along with the 
‘Raad-fiscaal’ [public prosecutor], sent this information to the authorities in 
Amsterdam for further investigation and persecution. 

It is not very clear why all of a sudden in 1730 a moral panic developed in 
the Republic that led to the hunt on homosexuals. Prior to 1730, sodomy 
was known in Latin as the crimen nefandum [the crime one cannot discuss] 
or peccatum mutum [the mute sin], a sin so terrible that even the devil did 
not have a name for it. Christians were not allowed to speak of this under 
any circumstance. This was applicable to the whole of Europe, but also to 
its colonized territories, thus also to Suriname. Because of this ‘burying 
one’s head in the sand’ mentality in regard to what we now know as 
homosexuality, it was considered to be rare and hardly ever occurring. In 
legal documents, however, there are to be found several cases of sodomy 
and severe punishments. In the 12th century, it was referred to as a crimina 

mixti-fori, a crime that could be prosecuted by both secular and religious 
courts, placing it in the same category as witchcraft. For the first half of the 
1600s, several public executions involving ‘death by fire’ are chronicled. 
By second half of that century, the preferred punishment for sodomy had 
evolved to death by strangulation and denial of burial rites. This allowed the 
executions to be kept a secret, apparently for the aforementioned reasons. 
By this time, authorities wanted to erase this ‘gruesome sin’ and eradicate 
homosexuality.4 For good reason, this subculture had to go underground. 
Never to be seen or heard of, it was imperative for sodomites to wisely keep 
themselves hidden from public view. History is repeating itself, and in a 
current-day context these circumstances are sadly recurring in so-called 
backward nations like, for example, Russia, Chechnya and most recently 
in Hungary (2021). Even though steps are being made to decriminalize 
homosexuality in several English-speaking Island states in the Caribbean, 
we also see in other parts of the region movements trying to persuade 
legislators to recriminalize the LGBT phenomenon, as by the ‘example’ set 
by Russia. So, how very geographically distant it in fact is, it comes much 
closer to home than one might think, especially when these circumstances 
are described to me personally by a close friend in Russia as dire with all 
hope lost and no expectations of any decent life or future.

4 Meer, van der (1993) (see Bibliography), pp. 36–38.
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Fig. 2. Act of 1730 describing in detail the capital punishment for the crime of sodomy by public 
execution; the death penalty was administered by slow strangulation in combination with optional 
torture or flogging, accompanied by slow burning or roasting over a smouldering fire; subsequent 
burial rites were denied and the corpses had to be weighted and tossed into the open sea.
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On 21 July 1730,5 sodomy was declared a capital crime in the Dutch 
Republic. The relevant act was to remain in force until 1811, when sodomy 
was decriminalized after the French invasion. In Suriname, however, 
decriminalization would take effect only in 1869,6 six years after the abolition 
of slavery (1863). In the daily newspaper De Kolonist of 2 May 1869, we read 
the announcement of the new laws taking effect as of 1 May 1869, replacing 
the Sodomy Act of 1730, along with many other contradicting and chaotic 
acts, legal decisions and decrees. The article closes with the sentence: 
“Hoping these new laws will not only bring prosperity and invite newcomers 
to our colony, but will provide tranquillity, peace, friendship and trust; all 
being key elements on which Suriname’s future and prosperity depend.” De 

Kolonist of 25 June 1871 makes note of the poor execution by authorities 
and institutes of these new laws, and thus also the functioning thereof. 
Officials frustratingly kept holding on to traditions, confusing the new Penal 
Code. If so, did this also work the same way with the abolished act on 
sodomy? An example of people holding on to old bad habits is expressed 
in the newspaper De Surinamer from 1905 and 1911, where sodomy is still 
used as the term to refer to homosexuality and is consistently mentioned 
together with prostitution, adultery and money-lending as a criminal activity. 
Underlining these sentiments of the day, the newspaper calls for some form 
of morality laws, based on the scriptures, if necessary, to put an end to these 
immoral tendencies. Meanwhile, in 1911, anti-LGBT legislation, by means of 
these called-for morality laws, would again be enacted in the Netherlands 
(pc248bis) and soon afterwards also to be made law in Suriname (1916; the 
Act pc253bis – later pc302).

On 1 April 1937, the government regulation from 1865 was replaced by the 
Polity of Suriname (Dutch: Staatsregeling van Suriname), and this led to 
a first change after the Charter for the Kingdom of the Netherlands was 
proclaimed on 15 December 1954 (Suriname ceased to be an overseas 
possession of the Netherlands, and rather became a constituent country 
within the Kingdom). Again, a new polity that reflected the new constitutional 
arrangements was adopted by the State of Suriname (Staten van Suriname) 
in 1955, and this again entailed a second small change in which the Act 
pc253bis became 302. Both of these aforementioned changes, however, 
affected only the heterosexual society positively; the discriminatory 
amendment for homosexuals remained firmly in place. In 1975, Suriname

5 Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/LGBT_rights_in_the_Netherlands, consulted 5 June 2016.
6 UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the International Lesbian Gay Bisexual 

Trans and Intersex Association.
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Fig. 3. Newspaper DE KOLONIST, 2 May 1869. Official announcement of the new Penal Code for the 
colony of Suriname per 1 May 1869, replacing the Act of 1730. This Penal Code was based on the 
Napoleonic Code (Code civil) of 1810.
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gained her independence with her own constitution. This constitution was 
suspended in 1980 after a military coup and was replaced in 1982 by Military 
Decree ‘Statute A11’. A serious attempt of activists to have pc302 suspended 
failed, and again this piece of legislation remained, emboldening any and 
every homophobe to interpret its intent and take action against LGBT 
persons. In the wake of the return to democracy, in 1987 a new constitution 
was adopted by referendum. In 1992, the 1987 constitution was reviewed and 
revised, voted for and approved in Parliament with the statutory minimum 
of a two-thirds majority. In 1994, pc302 was again modified with a slightly 
positive change in favour of homosexuals, but remained in force. In 2011, a 
commission was installed to update and modernize the constitution of 1992. 
Article 8-2 of the constitution, “No one shall be discriminated against on 
grounds of birth, sex, race, language, religion, education, political opinion, 
economic position or any other status,” remained. Finally, in 2015 – about 
a century after its enactment – pc302 was scrapped from the Penal Code.

1�1�1 De Goijer’s ring of ‘sodomites’, 1731

‘Claartie’, a tavern of some sort around that time in Paramaribo, is where 
Matthijs de Goijer and Jan Brouwer presumably first made their acquaintance 
and shared their first beers. What would start out as a presumed passionate 
night of shared physical and possibly romantic attraction to one another, 
would after several endeavours end up as a terrible nightmare for both gay 
individuals, simply because of the blatant ignorance and religious idolatry 
signifying that era.

In 1731, Garrison Quartermaster Matthijs de Goijer, the 41-year-old son of 
former governor Johan de Goijer, and soldier Jan Brouwer were condemned 
to death for having engaged in the ‘gruesome sin of sodomy’. De Goijer 
was sentenced to be slowly strangled while roasting over a smouldering 
fire.7 Because Brouwer was supposedly coerced into committing the act of 
sodomy, he was spared being roasted, and was punished ‘only’ by being 
tied to a pole and strangled to death (garrotted) instead. The location was 
“there where usually criminal justice was administered to whites,” namely 
the courtyard of Fort Zeelandia, the fortress then as now located near the 
centre of Paramaribo. In an attempt to avoid God’s wrath and punishment 
over the colony, the colonial authorities ordered the (half-burned) corpses 
to be tied down with weights of a hundred pounds each and cast into the 

7 Kempen, van (2002): (see Bibliography), Part 3, p. 36.
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sea.8 Funeral rites were denied, thus denying the possibility of the religiously 
promised eternal life in the Kingdom of Heaven after death. A third man, 
Christiaan Jurkas, was to be flogged and banished forever from the colony. 
He had confessed committing the ‘sinful act of sodomy’ as a male prostitute 
against payment of money. 

The archived documents do not reveal what triggered this case initially and 
who betrayed De Goijer to the authorities. All three condemned men were 
officially notified at a verdict reading on 1 March 1731, to be responsible for 
paying the costs of their own trial, the execution and also the executioner’s 
bill.9

The execution took place on 2 March. 

8 Schellekes & Hoogbergen (2001): see Bibliography.
9 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha  

NA_1.05.03_258_0378.
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Matthijs de Goijer: A confession with dire consequences

De Goijer confessed on 4 February 1731 to the charges of sodomy and, 
according to the registers, gave several names of ‘culprits’ in Suriname.10 
On being asked, he named several details such as the number of times, 
where, when this took place and with whom. This detailed end explicit line 
of questioning was all according to a strict sequential protocol that we see 
recurring in all the interrogations of all the suspects.

De Goijer stated he was not new to this practice because in Amsterdam he 
had visited these special houses where men like him gathered. He claimed 
he was introduced to this ‘life’ by the brother of Matthijs Balkman, the latter 
also being a suspect in this case. De Goijer did not remember the address 
of the establishment he and Balkman visited in Amsterdam.

It is because of its underground nature and the urgent need of the authorities 
to also dismantle such places or reveal possible facilitators of sodomy, 
that all suspects were consistently questioned about this. We do therefore 
indeed mention all these localities in the next few paragraphs. We did not 
find any information regarding if and when the authorities took any action 
with the information on these localities. We on our part also tried to establish 
a thread that could possibly lead to any conclusions on the existence of safe 
places or establishments in Paramaribo in those 1700s.

He further said that he knew his arrest was by the direct order of Governor 
de Cheusses and that he also knew what the ‘sin of sodomy’ was, as pointed 
out to him by the Public Prosecutor, the ‘Raad-fiscaal’, who supposedly 
quoted this ‘fact’ from the Bible. 

He denied having conspired with others or having heard of such, to commit 
the ‘sin of sodomy’. He basically denied knowing of the existence of any 
other circle of sodomites except ‘his’. When asked, De Goijer said all acts 
of sodomy were committed while he was sober, fully aware, and of his own 
choice, and that his advances were never declined by the others. 

In the second round of questioning, De Goijer came back on his earlier 
statements and ultimately declared only to having committed the actual ‘sin 
of sodomy’ twice, and with only Jan Brouwer, but no one else in Suriname. 

10 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_258_0371 t/m 0375.
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He admitted that the first time he had rewarded Jan Brouwer with a silver 
signet, which he ’bought back’ for 12 shillings. For the second time he paid 
Brouwer 10 shillings.

De Goijer, however, most likely out of fear of torture, named or implicated 
all the other persons, probably not fully realizing the consequences for his 
fellow ‘homosexuals’. They were subsequently arrested, interrogated and 
treated as suspected sodomites. In this case, a total nine of the implicated 
men were arrested, while four others were under suspicion but not taken 
into custody, and supposedly all the house owners’ or proprietors’ scruples 
were called into question.

We have to keep in mind that in the centuries prior to 1730, sodomy, even 
though considered an illegal act against mankind and nature, was not 
relentlessly persecuted. The punishment itself was still the same, and 
gruesome, but, as noted earlier, was never made into a public spectacle. On 
the contrary, executions were deliberately kept secret and behind closed 
doors. Sodomy was officially the sin ‘never to be spoken of and thus not 
to be seen’. Likewise, sodomites wisely kept themselves hidden away from 
public view as much as possible. In present-day settings, homosexuals 
still find themselves having to do exactly the same. They still have to 
remain in the shadows and in obscurity in certain places and under certain 
circumstances. This also is the case for many LGBT persons in Suriname. It 
is possible that De Goijer might have lived in the naïve assumption that his 
activities, given these secretive circumstances and because of his status 
and position, might be passed off with ‘a slap on the wrist’. Especially 
also given the fact that the morals around that time in the colony and of its 
inhabitants were not particularly exemplary. Living by the so-called norms 
and moral guidelines according to religion and the Bible was nowhere to 
be found. For example, alcohol abuse, prostitution, swearing, cursing and 
foul language, whoring and the sexual abuse of slaves, reported as such by 
religious leaders to their authorities, were the norm of the day. Yet slavery, 
on the other hand, was completely and absolutely acceptable according to 
the morals of their Bible and religion. 

The proceedings of the ‘Hof van Policie en Crimineele Justitie’ (Court of 
Police and Criminal Justice) were held in Fort Zeelandia, at which location 
all the arrestees were also kept prisoner for at least the duration. The 
‘Examinaatie en Informatie’, the questioning, was done by ‘Raad-fiscaal’ 
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(Public Prosecutor) Andriaan Wiltens in the presence of Governor de 
Cheusses, Militia Commander J.F. de Vries, Secretary Pieter Braat and 
sworn clerk Theodorus Robart. 

Jan Brouwer

De Goijer claimed the contact that first night with Jan Brouwer was at 
‘Claartie’, where he was drinking a beer, when Brouwer came in. He bought 
Brouwer a glass of beer and brought it over to him. ‘Claartie’, we must 
presume, was some sort of tavern in Paramaribo around that time or a 
private home where folk would tend to go and pay for a drink. Brouwer 
accepted the beer and they had a few drinks together. The first time they 
had ever spoken, however, prior to this evening according to the testimonial 
in the archives, was apparently at the house of one Hugo van Gebert, so in 
fact Brouwer and De Goijer already knew each other. When De Goijer was 
about to leave after the drinks, he asked Brouwer to go for a stroll, during 
which he De Goijer made the proposal for sexual intercourse. Around seven 
o’clock in the evening they ended up at the house where De Goijer was 
lodging. Meanwhile both adults had already consented to mutual carnal 
relations, but when they arrived at de Goijer’s house, Brouwer told De Goijer 
he was a poor man and would not mind if De Goijer were to give him some 
money.

Suspect soldier/private Jan Brouwer (44), when examined, categorically 
denied the charges of having had anal intercourse, having not asked for or 
received payment for any act of sodomy, as De Goijer would have declared. 
He admitted at first only to the advances made by De Goijer. When asked 
why he did not report these sins to the governor or to the commander, 
Brouwer said he did not do so because De Goijer pleaded with him and he 
decided to accede to De Goijer’s plea because of De Goijer’s good family 
name, rank and station above that of his own.

De Goijer also stated in his confession that the first time the endeavour 
with Brouwer had occurred, this had taken place at the house where he, 
De Goijer, was lodging, the home of B. Fuijst.11 The second time, about 14 
days later, De Goijer went to the house where Jan Brouwer was lodging and 
asked him to again do the deed. Brouwer replied that it would soon be dark 
and he first had something to attend to. Brouwer asked where he could meet

11 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_258_0348 t/m 0355.
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De Goijer soon after he was done. This would be the house of widow 
Bambergen. De Goijer admitted that both of the times they penetrated each 
other and actually did also ’waste seed in each other’. 

When Brouwer was interrogated a fourth time, he finally conceded and 
confessed. Brouwer pleaded for mercy, stating the only motive he had for 
committing the gruesome sin was the financial reward, but that neither he 
nor De Goijer actually ‘wasted seed in each other’. He furthermore asserted 
never before or after this to have committed the sin of sodomy and that to 
him this was all an experiment.

When De Goijer was asked again during his examination whether he had 
committed the sin of sodomy with another eight men, as he did with Jan 
Brouwer, he retracted his earlier statement in which he implied this. He 
finally confessed that they only had ‘played’ with each other, but that with 
none of them he did actually have penetration or ’waste of seed within’. 
As stipulated, both penetration and climaxing while penetrated were the 
factors necessary for the act to be classified and proven as sodomy. Yet 
all of these men, except Christiaan Kerkhoff and Rudolff Arentsberg, were 
still immediately arrested as suspects shortly thereafter. Additionally, Pieter 
Benningh and Jan Eijland, who were called to account by the ‘Raad-fiscaal’, 
were for unknown reasons not arrested. These persons’ names were 
apparently important enough to be mentioned in the documentation, yet 
mysteriously enough not for any reason or motive to be given as to why 
they were not arrested or thoroughly interrogated, as was the custom. This 
will remain a mystery for now, especially given the fact that even whispered 
gossip would be reason enough to be arrested and interrogated, let alone 
being named or implicated by the main suspect or culprit. Only one thing 
we do know for sure, and that is that political and financial-economic 
circumstances defined relations and positions in the colony. Perhaps the 
answer lies in this; we cannot know for sure.

Christiaan Jurkas (Laurens Stadler)

The third arrestee, Christiaan Jurkas (33), claimed that De Goijer had tried 
in two instances to kiss him and once had grabbed him in the crotch, but 
declared nothing else had happened. De Goijer’s version was quite different 
from that of Jurkas. According to De Goijer, after the kissing and caressing, 
he asked Jurkas to turn around so that he could penetrate him. After this, 
Jurkas asked for compensation as he was a poor man in need of finances. 
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When De Goijer refused to pay, they continued without intercourse and only 
masturbated. Jurkas ultimately conceded and confessed to what De Goijer 
had stated in his confessions.12 This affair took place in Fort Zeelandia, in the 
workplace of the quartermaster, De Goijer’s workroom, room number 6. 

Room number 6 was the same room in which De Goijer admitted to also 
having had sex with one Rudolff Arentsberg. And the same room that would 
become De Goijer’s prison cell, while Fort Zeelandia, also being the place 
where his late father, Governor De Goijer, lay buried, would become his 
place of execution. The courtyard of Fort Zeelandia would furthermore be 
the place where all the other executions of those found guilty of sodomy 
were to take place.13

Note: In the scan of the original ledger with the records of the Court of 
Police and Criminal Justice dated 3 March 1731, we do find, however, the 
name of Laurens Stadler instead of Christiaan Jurkas as the one to have 
been flogged. In the official reports and letters from the prosecution (‘Raad-
fiscaal’) and from Governor de Cheusses there is constant mention of 
Christiaan Jurkas.

Christiaan Kerkhoff and Rudolff Arentsberg, Pieter Benningh and Jan 

Eijland

Although everybody else implicated by De Goijer was immediately arrested, 
against Christiaan Kerkhoff also against Rudolff Arentsberg, for reasons 
unknown there was no case brought, neither were they arrested. Later, 
as it would turn out, De Goijer did not have anal intercourse with Rudolff 
Arentsberg, but that they had just ‘fooled around’ twice: once on the 
plantation of Jan van de Meule and once in the storage room (Room No. 6; 
De Goijer’s workroom) of Fort Zeelandia. Concerning the occurrences with 
Christiaan Kerkhoff there is no information. It certainly seems as if Kerkhoff 
and Arentsberg might have been protected by someone or something, for 
them not to undergo the same treatment as the other similar suspects. 

De Goijer himself never mentioned the names of Pieter Benningh or Jan 
Eijland, whose names were advanced by the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ himself. De 
Goijer denied having committed sodomy with these two. How their names 

12 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_258_0380.
13 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_258_0379.
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came to be listed as possible sodomites by the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ remains 
a question. We do know, however, that simple gossip or hearsay would 
be enough to have anyone arrested. Was the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ looking for a 
reason to justify the arrest of these two, and if so, why? We don’t know. 
There might have been power play or personal motives involved. What we 
do know is that these sodomy laws, later the morality laws, were often used 
for blackmail or to settle personal or political scores. This of course went 
on throughout the 1700s and 1800s, but also clearly during the 1900s, for 
example as documented during Nazism and in recent decades consistently 
in the political arena. In the best-case scenario, this might have been bullying 
of Bennigh and Eijland as we would recognize it in a current-day setting.

Hendrik Heyns

Private/First soldier Hendrik Heyns (21) was the fourth person arrested and 
questioned. He recalled De Goijer in 1728 arriving in the grounds of Mistress 
Lucia Bleij’s plantation, requesting lodging for the night. At night, De Goijer, 
who was sleeping in a hammock in Heyns’ room, asked him to come into 
his hammock, but Heyns refused De Goijer’s advances and left the hut to 
go and smoke his pipe outside. When he came back De Goijer was already 
sleeping. De Goijer’s statement, however, was that he and Heyns had lain 
together in the hammock and that Heyns had played with his ’manly hood’ 
until he, De Goijer, ‘unloaded his seed’, after which they fell asleep together.

Hendrik Dalendorp

The fifth arrestee, tambourinist Hendrik Dalendorp (22), confessed to having 
been approached by De Goijer with advances, which he claimed to have 
categorically refused. He did not report this to the authorities because 
De Goijer had begged and pleaded with him not to do so. Because of the 
higher rank of De Goijer, he decided to keep quiet. The ‘crime scene’ was 
the house of J.S. Brundel.

Hendrik van Rees

Tailor Hendrik van Rees (33) was also arrested and questioned. De Goijer 
had declared to have bathed together (in a creek or river) with him, during 
which they had masturbated each other. Van Rees denied having done so 
and claimed that all that had happened was that De Goijer invited him to go 
for a stroll, during which De Goijer would have kissed him and slipped his 
hands into his pants and suggested that Van Rees did the same. Van Rees 
said he refused, denied the allegations and stated that he even physically 
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fended off De Goijer. During his interrogation, De Goijer that stated his 
homosexual conducts with Van Rees had taken place as early as the year 
1729. 

Basya Govert van Vliet

In this same case, 29-year-old Govert van Vliet (trainee tailor, former servant) 
was questioned, and denied (contrary to De Goijer’s statement) having 
masturbated together with De Goijer in a hammock in his room, when 
De Goijer was spending the night on the plantation ‘Wildbaan’ of Pierre 
Labadie, where Van Vliet used to be in charge as the ‘basya’.14 This mutual 
masturbation happened, according to De Goijer, probably as early in 1728, 
almost three years prior to the court case. Even after a second round of 
interrogation, Van Vliet kept on denying this statement by De Goijer. 

An interesting aspect that we could not clarify is the ethnicity of Govert van 
Vliet. In the archival document he is called ‘basya’, while De Goijer referred 
to him as ‘Negerofficier’ [Negro officer]. This would indicate his ethnicity as 
possibly being African. This would mean that De Goijer might have also have 
been in violation of the edict of segregation decreed by his father Governor 
Johan de Goijer, who in 1711 redefined and tightened this edict from 1686, 
forbidding and severely punishing carnal relations between whites and 
coloured persons, especially in the case of white women who dared to cross 
the boundaries, if besides heterosexual, same-sex conduct had also been 
included in this edict. However, the fact is that the archives reveal that Van 
Vliet is also referred to as ‘the person Govert van Vliet’ (a non-white person 
would simply be referred to as ‘de neger’ [the Negro]; furthermore, in the line 
of questioning, “If he as a (supposed) Christian was aware of the wrath of 
God,” and finally the fact that he had a surname would all suggest Van Vliet 
must have been a white man. We do know that freed enslaved would receive 
a family name and we also know that in Suriname it was not uncommon for 
‘basyas’ to be blacks. It therefore remains a possibility that Van Vliet might 
have been black. Because information is lacking on homosexuality amongst 
or by enslaved, this would have been something exceptional. 

14 Derived from Dutch Bassiaan or Bastiaan meaning overseer or supervisor; ranking person in charge 

of the enslaved. This function could be fulfilled by either a white or a black person. A supervisor could, 

however, still be referred to as ‘basya’.
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Matthijs Balkman

As arrestee number eight, Matthijs Balkman15 (36), implicated by De Goijer, 
said he did indeed know De Goijer. He also admitted to having visited him 
and spending the night at his house, the house of B. Fuijst. This notably 
occurred after De Goijer had already on earlier occasions made several 
advances to Balkman, while he, Balkman, was still working as a ’draaier’, 
a woodworker, in Fort Zeelandia, where De Goijer was also stationed as 
quartermaster. He denied, however, having committed sodomy or having 
masturbated with him. He admitted that De Goijer made sexual advances 
towards him, but he never gave in. He also denied, as De Goijer would 
have suggested, having seen De Goijer reach orgasm at any point in time. 
Balkman stated he had not reported these incidents to the authorities, 
simply because of De Goijer’s higher rank and his urgent request to keep 
quiet about it.

De Goijer named the location as “the room in the house where Zwalembergh 
and Lebou lived.” This was the house of B. Fuijst; also De Goijer’s lodging 
address. De Goijer’s statement was that he asked Balkman if he might join 
him in his hammock. To which Balkman had agreed. While lying together, 
he embraced Balkman, and he guided Balkman’s hand to his ‘manhood’. 
Balkman played with him, masturbating De Goijer until he ‘wasted his 
seed’. When asked by the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ if he also intended or actually 
committed the sin of sodomy with Balkman on another occasion, namely in 
the workroom No. 6 or in the maintenance room of Fort Zeelandia, De Goijer 
said he did not know or recall this anymore. 

Regarding the brother of Matthijs Balkman, mentioned earlier, who, 
according to De Goijer, introduced him into the underground gay scene 
in Amsterdam, the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ wanted to know with whom, when and 
where. De Goijer declared not to remember many details such as the 
occupation held by Balkman’s brother (Jacob) or by his father (Jan), except 
the address at which the Balkmans lived, which would have been on the 
corner of the ’oude Dijckstraat’ in Amsterdam. De Goijer declared that 
this first time Jacob Balkman introduced him to this underground world in 
Amsterdam must have been in the year 1722. He did not recall the address 
of the location he described as the place where men like him met each 

15 The name of Matthijs Balkman (36) used in the report of Schellekes & Hoogbergen differs from the 

one as noted in L.J. Boon (1997): Matthijs Bartelman (36); Based on the descriptions in these studies, 

both refer to one and the same person. In the official reports and letters from the prosecution and Gov-

ernor de Cheusses, Balkman seems to be the correct name.
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other. According to Matthijs Balkman, his father’s and brother’s names 
were Jan and Jacob and the correct address was indeed as De Goijer had 
declared. Most likely the ‘Raad-fiscaal’ wanted to send this information 
to the authorities in Amsterdam to investigate and persecute this case of 
sodomy.16 Likewise, all the addresses of houses and the names of owners 
or hosts where any sodomy possibly might have been committed in 
Paramaribo were also registered. Of course, they were also suspect, based 
on ‘guilt by association’ and perhaps subject to summary investigation. In 
order to determine whether these persons were possibly part of any sodomy 
ring or just ‘sympathizers’, they must have also been looked at through a 
magnifying glass. Sodomy had to be eradicated at any cost or lengths in 
order to avoid losing the grace of God and to prevent economic losses. 
In a small town with approx. 1230 white inhabitants at that time, one can 
imagine the consequences to one’s ’reputation’ or ‘integrity’, not to mention 
the consequences to one’s position and financial status, if implicated in a 
sodomy case.

Jacob Gerritz van Susteren

Finally, arrestee number nine, Jacob Gerritz van Susteren (‘koopman’ 
[merchant]), said he knew De Goijer simply because he once had sold him 
some goods. De Goijer initially said that he and Van Susteren twice had 
committed sodomy. For one of those times with Van Susteren he named the 
house of Casper Schaap as the location. Here he would have masturbated 
Van Susteren until he ejaculated. Van Susteren, when confronted with 
this information during his questioning, denied the accusation of both 
occurrences and denied having had any immoral sexual relations with De 
Goijer. 

The colony ‘Sodoname and Gamoribo’ a novelty

Clearly not knowing any better, according to statements of Governor de 
Cheusses in his correspondence to the owners of the Societeit van Suriname 
(SvS), ‘sodomy was also discovered in the colony’ and was thus a novelty 
in Paramaribo. In his fear of God Almighty, as he claimed, he did or would 
do anything within his powers to prevent the colony becoming a breeding 
ground such as Sodom and Gomorrah had been. What we see is that he set 
out, with the Edict of 1730 in hand, to eradicate this ‘evil’ and save the colony. 
‘Saving us’ from becoming ‘Sodoname and Gamoribo’. In fact, present-day

16 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/258/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_258_0383.
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so-called moral knights still do the same and still claim that the LGBT 
phenomenon is a modern-day ‘novelty’. De Cheusses and the ‘Raad-fiscaal’, 
amongst others, relentlessly went to work on this case of ‘discovered’ 
sodomy of Matthijs de Goijer and his ring of sodomites.

In recapping the above paragraphs, we find it striking that De Goijer initially 
mentioned having committed acts of sodomy with all of the suspects, while 
in some cases at best it was masturbation with or without reaching a climax. 
Was it because De Goijer did not know what sodomy entailed as strictly 
defined by the letter of the law back then? Was he naïve, hoping for mercy, 
or did his motivation lie somewhere else? We don’t know. The fact remains 
that back then, society, the rule of law and religion saw themselves fit to 
have the legal and moral right to disregard any form of private life of any 
or all individuals and judge them according to their puritan beliefs. In fact, 
they still claim and demand that government and legislators do the same, 
all according to their radical beliefs. Even though the general conception 
and definitions of earlier sodomy laws included not only ‘homosexual 
acts’ but also included, for example, foul language, drunkenness, adultery, 
prostitution and so on, the Edict of 1730 on sodomy explicitly focuses on the 
‘homosexual acts’ henceforth presumed to define sodomy and thus made 
it synonymous with what we would now call homosexuality. In the Edict of 
1730 on sodomy, it is clearly mentioned that, from 1730 on, sodomy (as 
intended by this edict) would henceforth be tried and executions held in 
public. Not as before, out of sight, but now to be made a public spectacle 
of and also meant to warn off future sodomites. Here of course referring 
to sodomy, the crimen nifandum – a crime never to be spoken of – the 
crime of sodomy solely regarding male-male sexual relations defined as 
motivated by pure lust. This edict is also clear on its intent, namely to stave 
off the wrath of God, thus preventing loss of prosperity and welfare. The 
edict furthermore gives absolute power to the Courts [‘Hoven’] in taking 
any actions and making any decisions deemed necessary to eradicate this 
defined form of sodomy [=homosexuality]. Because, as mentioned above, it 
was seen solely as a sin of pure lust (with absolutely no possibility of love, 
romance or any other human emotion being involved), it was, according to 
archival records, defined and specified as anal penetration in combination 
with climaxing during said penetration. Without a doubt, any and every 
court case on sodomy since 1730 can be considered as having had the sole 
purpose of persecuting and executing homosexuals, and at the same time 
all earlier cumulative definitions of what sodomy entailed lost their validity 
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within the framework of the Edict of 1730. We should also make no mistake 
about it that this ridiculous theory is still seen as ‘law’ by refutists, the radical 
religious extremist, but also the average everyday bully, all of whom often 
claim to have God and the Bible exclusively on their side.

The investigation into De Goijer took about three weeks, and the governor 
of the colony of Suriname, Carel de Cheusses, as head of the courts, 
was closely involved. This is evident in the detailed reports De Cheusses 
sent by government correspondence to his superiors, the owners of the 
Geoctrooyeerde Societeit van Suriname (SvS) in the motherland.

The criminal charge was presented to the Court of Police and Criminal 
Justice [Hof van Policie en Crimineele Justitie] by the public prosecutor 
[‘Raad-fiscaal’] the day after the investigation ended. He emphasized the 
story of Sodom and Gomorrah, and said that it was not only by regular law, 
but also by God’s law that the sin of sodomy was punishable, knowing that 
God would also punish the whole colony of Suriname, as He had punished 
Sodom, if the punishment was inadequate. So instead of a quick death by 
decapitation or hanging, the prosecutor, in accordance with the Edict of 
1730 on sodomy, demanded (a slow) death by strangulation, whilst roasting 
on an open fire. After this, the colony should complete the cleansing of 
itself by casting the bodies with added 100-pound weights into the sea. As 
was common practice, the verdict would be implemented on the following 
day. In the case of De Goijer, Brouwer and Jurkas, the charges lodged 
were sodomy and ‘having one’s male genital in one’s hand’. For the act of 
sodomy, anal intercourse needed to be proved, and only Matthijs de Goijer 
and Jan Brouwer, ‘hence their confession without torture’, were found guilty 
of this sinful crime and sentenced. 
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Fig. 5. Of all sodomy cases, (detailed) reports were sent to the owners of the Geoctroyeerde Societeit 
van Suriname (SvS) in Amsterdam. Depicted here is the letter dated 1 March 1731 on the sentencing 
of Christiaan Jurkas, who was to be flogged and then banned from the colony; this after having been 
forced to witness the excruciating execution of Matthijs de Goijer and Jan Brouwer. Note the mention 
of also having to pay for the costs of his (their) own trial and execution.
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Christiaan Jurkas was also found guilty, not of sodomy, but of the willingness 
to actually commit this crime, even if only for financial gain. His punishment 
was to bear witness to the executions, then to be flogged, followed by 
lifelong banishment from the colony.17 Even though the other suspects 
were not found guilty of sodomy due to lack of evidence, they were still 
imputed as criminals by Governor de Cheusses, as he stated his letters. 
The seriousness of ‘unnatural’ (homosexual) acts demanded some form 
of severe punishment (even if it was ad hoc). However, no information on 
punishment of the other suspects was found in the archives.

Another issue for us is the ease with which it seems De Goijer gave up 
so much information on so many others. Together with the statement that 
there was ‘no torture’, it makes this somewhat suspicious and raises many 
questions as to why and how. Most likely, together with his supposed 
earlier mentioned naivety, the idea of being tortured was perhaps gruesome 
enough to extract a full confession and any further information.

The main method of pressure and persuasion throughout all the interrogations 
of all the suspects is the repeated mentioning of the absolute ‘fear of God’ 
and His punishment for and wrath over the accused. This striking of fear 
would always be instilled in the ‘sinners’, but aren’t we all ‘sinners’ according 
to the doctrine? They were all (and so we are all) abundantly informed of this 
‘fact’ and hence of the fate that awaited them, with a hint that telling the 
‘desired truth’ might somehow release them from some of their anguish 
and burden. The accused were all consistently made aware of their alleged 
abominable sins, evoking fear and laying guilt, and were asked (rhetorical) 
questions such as: “Had they read the meaning of sodomy in the Bible?”, 
“Did they not have any conscience?”, “Did they know that it was a sin 
punishable by the law of God and also the laws of mankind?”

1�1�2 Dirk Swart and Bartholomeus Hendrick Hassel    

 condemned, 1733

De Cheusses’ idea to get rid of sodomy in the colony, as he himself stated 
in the records, by dealing swiftly and mercilessly with the case ‘De Goijer’, 
apparently had not worked. Only two years later, in a colony ‘where sodomy 
had not existed before’ and meanwhile was ‘eradicated’ (in 1731), on 7 
October 1733, the next known sodomy case in Suriname, of Ship Captain 

17 Schellekes and Hoogbergen (2001): see Bibliography.
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Dirk Swart, presented itself� The investigation and questioning of several 
suspects amongst the crew of the vessel, De Juffrouw Maria, started with 
complaints by Claas Martijn (carpenter) and Gottfried Meisner (surgeon) 
against Capt. Swart.

Martijn, in his letter to the ‘Raad-fiscaal’, gave an incriminating testimony18 
against Swart, and started by his stating that he had not wanted to complain 
but simply to clear his conscience. Saying he was invited to sleep in the 
captain’s hut, which invitation he considered a privilege and accepted. 
After spending a few nights in the captain’s hut, he was asked to come and 
sleep in Swart’s bed, which he also accepted. When Swart made sexual 
advances, Martijn said he didn’t appreciate this and stated that nothing 
further had happened. Martijn declared that these sexual advances had 
occurred several times. These sexual advances, just like the ones made to 
Meisner, are described in minute detail in the statement of Martijn. Martijn 
said he shared his grief and sadness over the occurrences with Pieter van 
Baarle (a passenger), while off board along the Coppename River visiting 
the plantation of Moses de Vries.

Meisner’s testimony incriminated Swart. He gave a detailed account of the 
three occasions on which the captain made sexual advances towards him.19 
The first time was while at sea, on deck while passengers and crew were 
sitting having drinks and the captain invited him to come over and sit with 
him at his table. The second time it occurred was when they were just off 
the coast of Barbados and Swart invited him to come and tie his hammock 
in the captain’s hut with the intention of having him sleep there. After having 
accepted the invite, Meisner stated that the captain asked him to come and 
lay with him in his bunk and he played with Meisner’s private parts until 
they were disturbed by a crew member. After the crew member had left, 
the captain asked him to shave him, but meanwhile continued masturbating 
Meisner. The third time occurred again in the captain’s hut. Meisner had just 
finished washing/treating the captain with camphor, after which and while 
sitting in a chair they masturbated each other. Meisner said he could not 
get excited, while the captain on the other had climaxed in Meisner’s hand. 
These encounters lasted from 15 minutes up to more than 2 hours. Meisner 
claimed it was all against his will. 

18 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/260/file/NL-Ha  

NA_1.05.03_260_0928.
19 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/260/file/NL-Ha 

NA_1.05.03_260_0930.
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Swart did not deny the claims of either Martijn or Meisner, and confessed 
that he indeed on his instigation he had experimented with the two men. He 
denied, however, having had anal intercourse (sodomy) with either of them.

We don’t know why and if Martijn and/or Meisner voluntarily went to 
report this to the authorities or whether someone else reported this matter 
beforehand; it all seems odd, and this part of the information is missing 
from the archives. It is also not mentioned in the study ‘Sodomie processen 
in Suriname‘ by Schellekes & Hoogbergen. According to a letter20 from 
Governor de Cheusses dated 30 December 1733 to the owners of the 
Societeit van Suriname in Amsterdam, it was either a passenger to whom 
apparently Swart had also made sexual advances, or Meisner, who reported 
this case of sodomy to the ‘Raad-fiscaal’. It could very well also be possible 
that Pieter van Baarle, with whom Martijn had previously shared his grief 
about the situation with Capt. Swart, was the passenger De Cheusses 
referred to in his letters. It is also possible that this Van Baarle was simply 
the one who convinced Martijn and or Meisner to report the incidents: this 
if only for the reason of clearing themselves from any wrongdoing or facing 
terrible consequences if this were to come to light afterwards. 

After having taken the statements of Claas Martijn and Gottfried Meisner, 
the same ‘Raad-fiscaal’ [public prosecutor], Adriaan Wiltens, as in the De 
Goijer case decided to question more men from the crew and initiate the 
witch hunt on Swart and other possible sodomites.

Swart was examined on the possible violations based on the statements of 
the aforementioned Martijn and Meisner. He did not deny the allegations, 
apparently aware of the fact that the case would have no legal merit as long 
as the actual deed of sodomy as specified by the letter of the law could not 
be proved. He did not even have to deny sodomy or the intent of sodomy, 
because he was not accused of such based on these testimonials. The 
‘Raad-fiscaal’, dissatisfied and convinced that the gruesome sin of sodomy 
had actually been committed, conducted more interrogations of other crew 
members. Amongst them was deckhand Bartholomeus (Bartel/Barthel) 
Hendrik Hassel. Deckhand Bartel Hendrick Hassel was arrested based on a 
previous testimony of the ship’s helmsman, who supposedly witnessed the 
dealings of Swart en Hassel.

20 https://www.nationaalarchief.nl/en/research/archive/1.05.03/invnr/260/file/NL-Ha  

NA_1.05.03_260_0843.


